I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The circuit court refused to enforce a clear and comprehensive written agreement to arbitrate 

all disputes, which appears in the relevant agreements for residency and services in the 

assisted living residences involved in this action, because the arbitration provisions are not 

in separate agreements. That ruling is not in accord with applicable law, and constitutes 

manifest error. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Introduction 

This a putative class action which was brought originally on behalf of Louise McGraw and 

Charlotte Rodgers as putative class representatives against Petitioner, Chancellor Senior 

Management, Ltd. Chancellor Senior Management contracts with the licensed owner/operators of 

four assisted living residences located in diverse areas of West Virginia. The first amended class 

complaint alleges that as a result of allegedly insufficient staffing levels, the services provided to 

residents at all four of the residences are not commensurate with the levels of service promised in 

the written residency agreements that set forth the terms of the services that are to be provided. The 

claims asserted in this action are founded upon alleged violations of the West Virginia Consumer 

Protection Act ("WVCCPA"). West Virginia Code§ 46A-1-101 et seq. 

The two original representative plaintiffs, both of whom are now deceased, were residents 

at The Villages at Greystone ("The Greystone"), an assisted living residence located near Beckley 

in Raleigh County, West Virginia. A class has yet to be certified in the case. 

When the decedents became residents at The Greystone in 2013 and 2014 respectively, 

identical written residency agreements were executed by the Plaintiffs/Respondent daughters on 
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behalf of their mothers. Both agreements contained clear, unambiguous and comprehensive 

arbitration provisions, which required arbitration of any dispute, claim or demand arising under the 

residency agreements or otherwise relating to the residency of the decedents at The Greystone. 

Accordingly, Petitioner presented in the circuit court a Motion to Compel Arbitration. Under 

applicable law, the circuit court was obligated to consider only two issues: (1) whether a valid 

arbitration agreement exists between the parties; and (2) whether the claims averred by the plaintiff 

fall within the substantive scope of that arbitration agreement. State ex rel. TD Ameritrade, Inc. v. 

Kaufman, 225 W.Va. 250,692 SE2d 293 (2010). 

Notwithstanding that a valid, written arbitration agreement obviously existed, and the 

dispute clearly falls within the scope of the arbitration agreement, the circuit court refused to compel 

arbitration. Without citation to any relevant West Virginia or federal case authority dealing with 

the enforceability of arbitration agreements, and without addressing typical contract defenses such 

as fraud, duress or unconscionability that ordinarily are the basis for controversy over the 

enforceability of arbitration agreements, the circuit court reasoned that because the arbitration 

provisions referenced the American Health Lawyers' Association ("AHLA") rules, specifically the 

"Rules of Procedure," and because the current AHLA rules provide that the AHLA will not 

administer an arbitration unless the arbitration agreement appears in a separate agreement, this 

oblique reference created an internal standard of enforceability of the arbitration provision. Since 

the arbitration provisions in this matter were embedded in the residency agreements, rather than in 

a separate agreement, the circuit court ruled that they did not meet their own "standards," and, 

therefore, were unenforceable. The circuit court arrived at that conclusion even though at the time 

the residency agreements containing the arbitration provisions were drafted, and when they were 
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entered into, the AHLA rule regarding separate agreements had not yet come into existence. The 

circuit court's reasoning also disregarded the plain fact that it would have been nonsensical for the 

draft~man of the residency agreements to have included a detailed, specific and precise arbitration 

agreement in the residency agreements, if, in fact, those provisions would be unenforceable unless 

set forth in a separate agreement. Further, the circuit court's reasoning treats the AHLA rule 

regarding separate agreements as a standard of enforceability, even when the AHLA has made 

explicit that this rule has absolutely no bearing on the enforceability of an agreement to arbitrate, 

and represents nothing more than an internal operating administrative requirement. Finally, the 

circuit court's interpretation is not supported by any relevant legal authority, and it is flatly in 

derogation of the mandate of the Federal Arbitration Act1 and the West Virginia and federal case 

law decided thereunder. 

For these reasons, and as the following discussion demonstrates, the circuit court's ruling 

denying the motion to compel arbitration is in error, and must be reversed. 

B. Statement Of Facts Pertinent To Arbitration 

This action involves four assisted living residences in West Virginia, including The 

Greystone, where the Respondents' decedents resided.2 Although Respondents' first amended 

complaint alleges that Chancellor owns and operates each of the four assisted living residences, this 

allegation is incorrect. Each residence is owned and operated by separately licensed owners and 

operators. For example, The Greystone is owned and operated by Beckley Health Partners, Ltd. 

("Beckley Health"). A.0759-0760, ~2. The Petitioner in this matter, Chancellor, contracts with the 

1 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 
2 The remaining three residences are the Wyngate Senior Living Community at Barberville, the Wyngate 
Senior Living Community at Weirton and the Wyngate Senior Living Community at Parkersburg. 
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licensed owners and operators to provide certain management services. A different entity, 

Chancellor Health Partners, Inc., is the sole member of each of the owners and operators of each of 

the residences, including Beckley Health. See A.1372-1373, 11. 

Louise McGraw was admitted to The Greystone on March 27, 2013. A0760-0761, 16, and 

McGraw Residency Agreement dated April 8, 2013. A.0766. The Residency Agreement reflects 

that the agreement was executed on behalf of Ms. McGraw by her daughter, Nancy Reuschel, 

"POA." A.0783. According to the Affidavit of Megan Wilson, Ms. Wilson is familiar with Louis 

McGraw and the circumstances surrounding her residency. Nancy Reuschel represented to Ms. 

Wilson that she was authorized to act on behalf of her mother in executing the agreement. Ms. 

Wilson, on behalf of The Greystone, relied upon Ms. Reuschel' s representation in accepting her 

signature on the Residency Agreement. A.0760-0761, 116-7. Subsequently, Ms. Reuschel provided 

a copy of a Durable Power of Attorney to the Greystone facility executed on March 11, 2014. 

A.1168. 

Charlotte Rodgers was admitted to The Greystone under a Residency Agreement executed 

by her daughter, Loretta Holcomb, dated July 4, 2014. A.0761, 17 and Rodgers' Residency 

Agreement, A.0785. The Rodgers' Residency Agreement is identical in every respect to the 

Residency Agreement executed on behalf of Ms. McGraw over one year earlier. Ms. Rodgers had 

appointed her daughter, Loretta Holcomb, as her attorney in fact through the execution of a Durable 

Power of Attorney dated October 25, 2006. A.1172. Ms. Wilson countersigned the Residency 

Agreement on behalf of Beckley Health. Ms. Rodgers was a resident of The Greystone following 

her admission through July 27, 2014. A.0761, ,1. 
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Each Residency Agreement designated various benefits and services to be provided to Ms. 

McGraw and Ms. Rodgers, including health and personal care, living accommodations, meals, and 

nursing services. Further, each Residency Agreement designated the Resident's monthly fee, 

depending upon the predetermined level of care provided to Plaintiffs' decedents. 

C. Facts Relating To The Arbitration Provision 

The identical Residency Agreements executed on behalf of Louis McGraw and Ms. 

Rodgers, of course, contain identical arbitration provisions. The full text of the relevant portions of 

the arbitration provision reads: 

C. ALL OTHER DISPUTES 

Any legal controversy, dispute, disagreement or claim of any kind arising out of, or 
related to this Agreement, or the breach thereof ( other than those actions addressed 
in Sections X.A. and X.B. of this Agreement), shall be settled exclusively by binding 
arbitration as set forth in Section X.D. below. This arbitration clause is meant to 
apply to all controversies, disputes, disagreements or claims including, but not 
limited to, all breach of contract claims, all negligence and malpractice claims, all 
tort claims, and all allegations of fraud in the inducement or requests for revision of 
the contract. 

D. CONDUCT OF BINDING ARBITRATION 

You understand that by hereby agreeing to arbitrate legal disputes means that you 
are waiving your right to sue in a court of law and to a trial by jury. You agree to 
arbitrate disputes by signing this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator(s) shall 
be final and binding and may not be appealed nor may it be stayed. The arbitration 
will be conducted as follows: Any arbitration conducted pursuant to this Section X 
shall be conducted in Cabell County, West Virginia in accordance with the 
American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution 
Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration. The award rendered by the arbitrator(s) 
shall be final, and judgment on the award shall be entered in accordance with 
applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The parties understand that 
arbitration proceedings are not free and that any person requesting arbitration will 
be required to pay a filing fee to AHLA and other expenses; however, the parties 
agree to divide the arbitration expenses equally. If you would like information 
regarding AHLA's Alternative Dispute Resolution Service, you may contact AHLA 
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at (202) 833-1100 or Suite 600, 1025 Connecticut Avenue NW, Washington, DC 
20036-5405. 

A.0798 (Emphasis added). 

The American Health Lawyer's Association ("AHLA") is an educational organization 

devoted to legal issues in the health care field. The AHLA offers dispute resolution services, 

including the administration of consumer arbitrations, and has published rules of procedure for 

arbitration which are periodically updated. The AHLA rules which became effective for claims 

recei.ved by the AHLA on or after September 15, 2019 3 entitled "Rules of Procedure for Consumer 

Arbitration" set forth that in order to file a claim for an arbitration to be administered by the AHLA, 

the arbitration agreement must meet the following prerequisites specified at Section 2 entitled, 

"Filing a Claim" which provides, in part, as follows: 

2.1 Requirements: 

To file a claim, a party must complete and submit the claim form on the AHLA 
website, pay the applicable fees listed in Exhibit 3 and on the form, provide a 
statement describing the issue(s) to be arbitrated, and either provide a copy of an 
agreement to arbitrate or a court order requiring arbitration of the claim under the 
Rules or cite a statute or regulation authorizing or requiring arbitration under the 
Rules. If the agreement to arbitrate was signed before the events giving rise to the 
claim occurred, the agreement must: 

(1) be a separate document conspicuously identified as an agreement to 
arbitrate; 

(2) include the following notice, or substantially similar language, in a 
conspicuous location: 

Voluntary Agreement to Arbitrate 

TIDS AGREEMENT GOVERNS IMPORTANT LEGAL RIGHTS. PLEASE 
READ IT CAREFULLY BEFORE SIGNING. 

3 The version of the ARLA Rules which became effective on September 15, 2019 for claims received by the 
ARLA to administer an arbitration were recently amended effective September 1, 2020. The relevant 
provisions of Section 2 remain unchanged. 
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This is a voluntary agreement to resolve any dispute that may arise in the 
future between the parties under the American Health Lawyers Association's 
Rules of Procedure for Arbitration. In arbitration, a neutral third party 
chosen by the parties issues a final, binding decision. When parties agree to 
arbitrate, they waive their right to a trial by jury and the possibility of an 
appeal. 

(3) state conspicuously that the health care entity will provide the same care or 
treatment, without delay, if the agreement is not signed; and 

( 4) explicitly grant the resident or his or her representative the right to rescind 
the agreement within 30 calendar days of signing it (unless a state law 
appHcable to contracts generally grants a longer period for revocation). 

A.0972. 

Section 2.4 provides for a hearing procedure on the administration of the arbitration by the 

AHLA where a consumer claims that the arbitration agreement fails to comply with the 

requirements of Rule 2.1 and provides as follows: 

2.4 Hearing on Administration of Arbitration 

(a) SCHEDULING. If a Consumer claims the agreement to arbitrate fails to 
comply with the requirements listed in Rule 2.1, the arbitrator, once 
appointed, will promptly schedule a preliminary hearing on this issue. The 
arbitrator may conduct the hearing by telephone, by video conference, and/or 
by submission of briefs. 

(b) DETERMINATION. Within ten (10) days after the preliminary hearing is 
closed, the arbitrator will issue an award determining whether the agreement 
to arbitrate satisfies the requirements set forth in Rule 2.1. If the arbitrator 
determines that the agreement does not satisfy the requirements, the 
arbitrator will issue a Final Award terminating the arbitration without 
prejudice to any claims or defenses. The Final Award may order the Health 
Care Entity to pay all the costs and fees of arbitration, including the filing 
fee. If the arbitrator determines the agreement satisfies the requirements, the 
arbitrator will issue an interim award to that effect. Any determination under 
this section not to administer the arbitration shall not be considered a 
determination on the validity of the arbitration agreement, and the parties 
may arbitrate in another forum if their agreement so provides or if they 
otherwise agree. 

A.0973 (Emphasis added). 
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At the time the Residency Agreement and the arbitration provision contained therein were 

drafted and subsequently executed on behalf of Louis McGraw on March 27, 2013, the AHLA rules 

then in effect (as of May 31, 2012), entitled, "Rules of Procedure for Arbitration," did not require 

an arbitration agreement to meet any requirements, such as those set forth in Rule 2.1. The 

requirements of Rule 2.1 did not exist until they first appeared in subsequent versions of the AHLA 

rules, beginning with the 2014 version of the AHLA rules, entitled, "Rules of Procedure for 

Arbitration." The practically identical text of Rule 2.1 appears in the 2014 AHLArules at Rule 11.5 

entitled "Requirements for Administration by AHLA." While not germane to the issues on appeal, 

the only difference between Rule 2.1 and 11.5 is that the language of Rule 11.5 ( d), which 

corresponds to Rule 2.1(4), provides, that the agreement must "state conspicuously that the 

agreement to arbitrate may be revoked within 10 days after being signed (unless a state law 

applicable to contracts generally grants a longer period for revocation)." For the Court's reference, 

the 2012 and 2014 version of the AHLA rules are attached at Exhibits A and B respectively. 

The AHLA has published "AHLA Guide to Arbitration Clauses" which provides, with 

regard to pre-dispute arbitration clauses: "To have disputes that might arise in the future arbitrated 

through the AHLA Dispute Resolution Service, insert this clause into a contract: 'Any dispute 

arising out of or relating to this contract or the subject matter thereof, or any breach of this contract, 

including any dispute regarding the scope of this clause, will be resolved through arbitration 

administered by the American Health Lawyers Association Dispute Resolution Services and 

conducted pursuant to the AHLA Rules of Procedure for Arbitration. Judgment on the award may 

be entered and enforced in any court having jurisdiction."' The AHLA Guide to Arbitration is 

attached at Exhibit C. 
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D. Procedural History 

Respondents initiated the instant action by filing a Class Action Complaint on October 25, 

2016, which alleged one count for violation of the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act. 

A.0001. Respondents reasserted this count in their First Amended Class Action Complaint on 

November 29, 2016. A.0031. Prior counsel for Petitioner filed an Answer to Plaintiffs' First 

Amended Class Action Complaint on January 24, 2017, which contained various affirmative 

defenses that Petitioner was not a signatory to the Residency and Arbitration Agreements at issue 

and does not own or operate The Greystone. Petitioner alleged in its defenses that Beckley Health, 

a non-party, owns and operates The Greystone and countersigned the Residency Agreements 

executed by Respondents containing the arbitration provision at issue. A.0062-0087. On February 

13, 2017, Petitioner, by undersigned counsel, filed an Amended Answer to Respondents' First 

Amended Class Action Complaint asserting additional affirmative defenses based on Respondents' 

failure to appropriately name or join Beckley Health as a defendant. A.0141-0145. In light of 

Respondents' failure to join Beckley Health as a party in this case, a substantial legal question 

remained as to what extent the non-signatory Petitioner could enforce any provisions set forth in 

the Residency Agreement, including the arbitration provision. On December 1, 2016, shortly after 

the filing of its original complaint, Respondents served class action-related discovery on prior 

counsel. Petitioners objected to the discovery and thereafter, little or no discovery took place 

regarding Respondents' substantive claims.4 

4 Respondents First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents requested information 
in support of their alleged class action suit. Prior counsel for Petitioner served responses to these discovery 
requests on February 6, 2017, which generally objected to Respondents' discovery requests based on 
Respondents' failure to obtain class action certification as of that date. A.0088. 
{L0830124.4} 9 



Ms. Rodgers died on December 1, 2016, according to a Suggestion of Death filed in this 

matter. A.0192. A Suggestion of Death filed by Chancellor reflects that Ms. McGraw passed away 

on May 15, 2017. A.0192. On May 25, 2017, Petitioner filed a Motion for Leave to Amend the 

Answer, seeking to raise the affirmative defense of abatement of Respondents' claims under the 

WVCCPA. A.0196. 

, On July 14, 2017, Petitioner filed a Supplemental Motion for Leave to Amend the Answer 

to assert arbitration as an affirmative defense wherein Petitioner reiterated that although it is a 

nons~gnatory to the Residency Agreements containing the arbitration provision, given that it has a 

management relationship with each of the assisted living residences that are the subject of Plaintiffs' 

First: Amended Class Action Complaint, it was foreseeable that it may be able to enforce the 

arbitration provision and requested leave to assert arbitration as an affirmative defense in its Answer 

to the Complaint.5 A.0223. 

On July 17, 2017, Petitioners filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings or in the 

Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment, seeking the dismissal of Respondents' claims under 

the WVCCPA as they abated upon the deaths of Respondents' decedents.6 A.0243. 

After this Court issued the decision of Bluestem Brands, Inc., v. Shade, 239 W.Va. 694,805 

S.E.2d 805 (2017) on October 6, 2017 announcing that a nonsignatory to an agreement containing 
:I 

5 Petitioner's purpose in moving to amend the answer was to preserve a right to enforce the arbitration 
provision should Beckley Health later be brought into the case as a party-Defendant. It was Petitioner's 
intention that once Beckley Health Partners became a party Defendant, the arbitration provision would then 
be invoked. See A.1373. · 
6 On' August 25, 2017, the assigned Judge recused himself due to a potential conflict of interest and 
reassigned the case to the Honorable Andrew Dimlich. In the order of recusal, the circuit court judge vacated 
an earlier order dated June 29, 2017 substituting the Respondents as representatives of the respective estates 
of Ms. McGraw and Ms. Rodgers. To date, the Respondents have yet to be substituted as representatives of 
the respective estates as plaintiffs. 
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an arbitration provision has an affirmative legal right to enforce the arbitration provision, Petitioner 

immediately invoked the arbitration provision by filing a Supplement to Supplemental Motion for 

Leave to Amend the Answer to assert arbitration as a defense on December 29, 201 7. A. 0541. 

By Order of March 11, 2019, the circuit court granted Petitioner's request to amend its

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