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

while. simultaneously relying on a single sentence in Rule 2.4 to support its assertion that the parties 

never intended the Rule to apply. This argument should be rejected. 

2. Petitioner's Argument Concerning its Intent Raises Issues and Argument for the First 
Time on Appeal and is an Inappropriate Attempt to Establish that the Arbitration 
Agreement is Ambiguous. 

Facing the implications of its repeated concession that the arbitration agreement is clear 

and unambiguous, Petitioner claims it did not intend that the AHLA Rules would apply in their 

entirety. Petitioner does not affirmatively retreat from its position that the arbitration agreements 

are unambiguous as this would undermine the error it has assigned. But the Briefs discussion of 

intention, no matter how indirectly raised, must be addressed because it seeks to avoid the express 

language in the arbitration provision that clearly requires any arbitration shall be conducted "in 

accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute 

Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration." This new argument can only mean that 

Petitioner now argues that an ambiguity exists. 

Petitioner seeks rescue from failing to raise this argument below and hopes that this Court 

will read between the lines and find an ambiguity concerning the parties' intent. But such a holding 

would then require consideration of parol evidence to resolve this supposed ambiguity. Gastar 

Exp!. Inc. v. Rine, 239 W. Va. 792, 799, 806 S.E.2d 448, 455 (2017) ("Proper parol evidence is 

admissible to explain a latent ambiguity in a written contract, and a latent ambiguity is one which 

arises not upon the words of the instrument, as looked at in themselves, but upon those words when 

applied to the object sought to be accomplished by the contract or the subject which they 

describe.") (citing Syllabus Point 10, Paxton v. Benedum-Trees Oil Co., 80 W.Va. 187, 94 S.E. 

472 (1917)). Petitioner has attached the parol evidence it would like this Court to consider as 

exhibits to its brief, namely two previous versions of the AHLA Rules of Procedure and the AHLA 

Guide to Arbitrations, Exhibits A and B to the Brief. Petitioner did not submit these documents in 
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the record below, they were not considered by the circuit court when Petitioner filed its Motion to 

Compel Arbitration, and Respondents have moved to strike the exhibits. See Respondents' Motion 

to Strike Exhibits Attached to Petitioner's Brief which were not submitted to the Trial Court and 

are Not Properly of record (filed March 5, 2021). 5 

As an initial matter, Petitioner should not be permitted to make arguments concerning the 

parties' intent for the first time on appeal. This Court has repeatedly recognized a general rule that 

"when nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court level and are then first 

raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal." Whitlow v. Bd. of Educ. of 

Kanawha Cty., 190 W. Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993); Shrewsbury v. Humphrey, 183 

W.Va. 291,395 S.E.2d 535 (1990); Cline v. Roark, 179 W.Va. 482,370 S.E.2d 138 (1988); Crain 

v. Lightner, 178 W.Va. 765,364 S.E.2d 778 (1987); Trumka v. Clerk of the Circuit Court, 175 

W.Va. 371,332 S.E.2d 826 (1985). This Court has explained the rationale behind this rule: "when 

an issue has not been raised below, the facts underlying that issue will not have been developed in 

such 'a way so that a disposition can be made on appeal." Whitlow, 190 W.Va. at 226. And in 

addition to the "manifest[] unfair[ness] for a patty to raise new issues on appeal[,]" there is also a 

practical "need to have the issue refined, developed, and adjudicated by the trial court, so that we 

may have the benefit of its wisdom." Id. 

Furthermore, consideration of Petitioner's exhibits to resolve its newly raised argument 

would be improper. These documents were never considered by the trial court and were never 

made part of the record. In Response to Respondent's Motion to Strike these exhibits, Petitioner 

has moved to supplement the appendix with the documents that constitute its exhibits. See 

Petitioner's Response to Respondents' Motion to Strike Exhibits Attached to Petitioner's Brief and 

5This Motion, along with the Petitioner's Response referenced above in footnote 3, supra, was filed directly 
with this Court pursuant to Rule 29 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. 
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Motion for Leave of Court to Supplement the Record (dated March 10, 2021). This Court has 

held: "The appellate review of a ruling of a circuit court is limited to the very record there made 

and will not take into consideration any matter which is not a part of that record." Martin v. 

Barbour Cty. Bd. of Educ., 228 W. Va. 238,243, 719 S.E.2d 406,411 (2011) (refusing to consider 

attachments and facts therein that were not part of the record in the circuit court), quoting syl. pt. 2, 

State v. Bosley, 159 W.Va. 67,218 S.E.2d 894 (1975). It is a "steadfast" rule that the "record may 

not be enhanced or broadened on appeal except by the methods discussed or by the stipulation of 

the parties." Powderidge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Properties, Ltd., 196 W. Va. 692, 703, 

474 S.E.2d 872,883 (1996); O'Neal v. Peake Operating Co., 185 W.Va. 28,404 S.E.2d 420 (1991) 

(this Court may only consider matters appearing in the trial record). 

Nevertheless, even if Petitioner had raised its arguments concerning the intent of the paiiies 

and submitted its exhibits to the circuit court, the fact remains that there is no basis to conclude 

that an ambiguity exists regarding the provision's adoption of the AHLA Rules in their entirety. 

For this reason, the circuit comi could not properly have looked behind the express language to 

consider extrinsic evidence to construe the agreement even if the argument had been made below. 

Under West Virginia law, "where the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, they 

must be applied and not construed." Waddy v. Riggleman, 216 W.Va. 250, 606 S.E.2d 222, 233 

(2004). And "[w]hen a written contract is clear and unambiguous its meaning and legal effect 

must 'be determined solely from its contents and it will be given full force and effect according to 

its plain terms and provisions. Extrinsic evidence of the parties to such contract, or of other 

persons, as to its meaning and effect will not be considered." Dan's Carworld, LLC v. Serian, 223 

W.Va. 478,482, 677 S.E.2d 914, 919 (2009) (quoting Kanawha Banking & Tr. Co. v. Gilbert, 131 

W.Va. 88, 46 S.E.2d 225,227 (1947)). "The mere fact that parties do not agree to the construction 

of a contract does not render it ambiguous." Energy Dev. Corp. v. Moss, 214 W.Va. 577, 591 
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S.E.2d 135,143 (2003) (quoting Berkeley Cty. Pub. Serv. Dist. v. Vitro Corp. of Am., 152 W. Va. 

252, 267, 162 S.E.2d 189, 200 (1968)). As this Court has "clearly stated[,] 'in the absence of 

extraordinary circumstances, the failure to read a contract before signing it does not excuse a 

person from being bound by its terms."' Sedlock v. Moyle, 222 W. Va. 547, 551, 668 S.E.2d 176, 

180 (2008) ( quoting Reddy v. Community Health Found. of Man, 171 W.Va. 368, 3 73, 298 S.E.2d 

906, 910 (1982)). Petitioner has not argued it lacks capacity or did not understand the agreement 

or the AHLA Rules incorporated into the agreement, and "[ c ]ontracts are reduced to writing so 

that there can be no subsequent argument concerning the terms of an agreement. A person who 

fails to read a document to which he places his signature does so at his peril." Id. Nothing in 

Petitioner's arguments or its exhibits changes the clear and unambiguous language in the 

agreement itself adopting the AHLA Rules of Procedure. 

Nevertheless, Petitioner's attempt to inject ambiguity into the agreement on appeal, even 

if successful, fails to achieve the interpretation it seeks. 6 This is because "[i]t is well-settled that 

any ambiguity in a contract must be resolved against the party who prepared it." Nisbet v. Watson, 

162 W.Va. 522,530,251 S.E.2d 774, 780 (1979); CONSOL Energy, Inc. v. Hummel, 238 W. Va. 

114, 121-22, 792 S.E.2d 613, 620-21 (2016) (finding the circuit court correctly held that "to the 

extent any ambiguity exists, it must be interpreted most favorably to Plaintiffs."); Charlton v. 

Chevrolet Motor Co., 115 W.Va. 25, 174 S.E. 570 (1934) ("Uncertainties in an intricate and 

6 In addition to being inappropriately submitted and inapplicable, the previous versions of the AHLA Rules 
do not support Petitioner's substantive argument. In the 2012 version, Rule 7.06 clearly puts the parties on 
notice that amendments are possible, stating that "rules may be amended by the Service from time to time, 
which amendments thereafter become binding upon the parties to an arbitration pursuant to these Rules. 
Any reference to these Rules shall be construed to refer to these Rules as amended from time to time." 
Pet's Brief, Exhibit A, p.13. 

Furthermore, the 2014 version of the AHLA Rules were adopted on April 7, 2014 and were in place at the 
time Respondent Charlotte Rodgers entered into her Residency Agreement on July 4, 2014. Rule 11.5 in 
the 2014 version of the rules contains the same requirements that Rule 2.1 does in the current version. 
Petitioner cannot credibly take the position that it had no intention of being bound by the requirements in 
the 2014 version of the rules that were in effect when Respondent Rodgers entered into the agreement in 
2014. Pet's Brief, ExhibitB, p. 30. 
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involved contract should be resolved against the party who prepared it."); accord Jochum v. Waste 

Management of West Virginia, 224 W.Va. 44, 49, 680 S.E.2d 59, 64 (2009); syl. pt. 8, Estate of 

Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resources, 219 W.Va. 266, 268, 633 S.E.2d 22, 24 (2006); Combs 

v. McLynn, 187 W.Va. 490, 493, 419 S.E.2d 903, 906 (1992) (citing Nisbet). Petitioner drafted 

the Agreements, including the arbitration provision. This .is established by Petitioner's 

Management Agreement, which provides that Petitioner "shall negotiate all leases, licenses and 

use agreements affecting the community ... [ and] "shall use a form of lease, residence agreement 

or similar documents approved in advance by the Owner." Supp.A.1504. The factual findings in 

the Kelley case are consistent with this reality, as in Kelley, the court found that Petitioner, along 

with the other defendants "wrote the agreement." A.0644. 

Petitioner's intention arguments and the newly submitted exhibits tacitly concede that to 

escape its failure to comply with the terms of the arbitration provision Petitioner must take a 

position inconsistent with its previous assertions that the arbitration provision is clear and 

unambiguous. The Court need not reconcile these inconsistent positions to reach the ultimate 

question of whether arbitration should have been compelled here. The correct inquiry is not - as 

Petitioner suggests - whether the parties intended for the arbitration agreement to appear in a 

separate document but is instead whether the parties intended to adopt the AHLA Rules for 

Procedure. The only conclusion that can be reached from the clear and unambiguous language of 

the agreement is that they did. And because any arbitrator, whether the AHLA or a substitute, 

would be required to honor the parties' agreement to apply these rules, any arbitrator would be 

required to apply Rule 2.4 and dismiss an arbitration due to the agreement's failure to comply with 

Rule 2.1. This renders any and every arbitral forum unavailable. 

Stripped of rhetoric and distractions, Petitioner's argument is essentially this: because it 

failed to comply with the rules it inserted into its agreement, it must not have intended to adopt 
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them in the first place. A party's failure to satisfy rules adopted in its agreements simply does not 

support a finding that it lacked intention to adopt those rules. Such a finding would create an 

unworkable standard that would broadly imperil the finality and enforceability of contracts, in that 

any contracting party could then use its failure to comply with clear terms as evidence of never 

intending to include those terms at all. Petitioner's circular reasoning would disturb well

established principles governing contract formation and incorporation of documents by reference. 

The Court should decline to adopt such a standard. 

3. The AHLA Rules Are Properly Incorporated by Reference into the 
Arbitration Agreements. 

Petitioner also argues for the first time on appeal that AHLA Rule 2.1 was not properly 

incorporated into the arbitration provision. In the circuit court, the parties disputed the 

enforceability of the arbitration agreement but at all times agreed that the AHLA Rules apply. And 

Petitioner acknowledged in its Motion to Compel Arbitration that the current version of the AHLA 

Rules applies when a demand for arbitration is made. A.1108. At no point did Petitioner take the 

position that the AHLA Rules were not incorporated into the arbitration provision. Petitioner now 

argues it was error for the circuit court to fail to make findings on an argument it did not present 

despite having every opportunity to do so. 

Petitioner's Briefrecites the elements for a valid incorporation by reference, which are as 

follows: "(1) the writing must make a clear reference to the other document so that the parties' 

assent to the reference is unmistakable; (2) the writing must describe the other document in such 

terms that its identity may be ascertained beyond doubt; and (3) it must be certain that the parties 

to the agreement had knowledge of and assented to the incorporated document so that the 

incorporation will not result in surprise or hardship." State ex rel. U-Haul Co. of W Virginia v. 

Zakaib, 232 W. Va. 432, 443, 752 S.E.2d 586, 597 (2013). Here Petitioner argues that because 

each numbered AHLA Rule, including but presumably not limited to Rule 2.1, was not separately 
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referenced and described in the arbitration provision it does not meet the U-Haul test for 

incorporation by reference. This argument greatly expands the holding of U-Haul and imposes a 

burden on contracting parties that would destroy the concept of incorporation by reference. 

In U-Haul, the contract at issue made short mention of an "addendum" but failed to provide 

sufficient detail to ensure that the parties to the agreement had knowledge of and assented to what 

was hidden in the addendum - an arbitration agreement. Id. at 444. The passing reference to the 

addendum was insufficient to incorporate it by reference into the rental agreement because it did 

not contain a detailed description of the document. Id. This Comi found that the lack of a "detailed 

description is compounded by the fact that the Addendum itself was designed to look more like a 

document folder advertising U-Haul products, services, and drop-off procedures, rather than a 

legally binding contractual agreement." Id. Fmthermore, this Court found it "most troubling" that 

"U-Haul's practice was to provide customers a copy of the Addendum only after the Rental 

Agreement had been executed." Id. (emphasis in original). 

The facts in this case are easily distinguishable from those present in U-Haul. First, the 

arbitration agreement adopts a set of procedural rules, as most arbitration provisions do, and is not 

a document containing additional agreements. As has been extensively explained, the plain and 

unambiguous languag;e in the arbitration provision states in specific detail that "[a]ny arbitration 

conducted pursuant to this Section X shall be conducted in Cabell County, West Virginia in 

accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute 

Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration." Crucially - these were the rules the 

Petitioner, as the drafter of the Residency Agreements, chose would govern any future arbitration. 

The AHLA Rules of Procedure are publicly available and are not, in contrast to the U-Haul 

addendum, in the control of one party and only shared with the other party after the primary 

agreement is executed. In fact, the arbitration provision here provides precise information to both 
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contracting parties enabling them to ascertain the content of the incorporated rules, stating: "If you 

woul<;l like information regarding AHLA's Alternative Dispute Resolution Service, you may 

contact AHLA at (202) 833-1100 or Suite 600, 1025 Connecticut Avenue NW, Washington, DC 

20036-5405." A.0779; A.0798. No evidence exists, nor could it, that Respondents have somehow 

concealed the true nature of the AHLA Rules of Procedure from Petitioner, the very party that 

wrote the provision. Again, "a party's failure to read a duly incorporated document will not excuse 

the obligation to be bound by its terms ... " U-Haul at 443. Petitioner's "incorporation by 

reference" argument is untimely and without merit, and Petitioner should not be permitted to avoid 

clearly incorporated terms and procedures contained in an agreement it drafted. 

C. THE ARBITRATION PROVISION SELECTED THE AHLA AS AN EXCLUSIVE 
ARBITRAL FORUM AND ITS UNAVAILABILITY RENDERS THE 
ARBITRATION PROVISION UNENFORCEABLE

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